

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Gramzow, Andreas

#### **Working Paper**

Experience with endogenous rural development initiatives and the prospects for Leader+ in the region Dolina Strugu, Poland

Discussion Paper, No. 89

#### **Provided in Cooperation with:**

Leibniz Institute of Agricultural Development in Transition Economies (IAMO), Halle (Saale)

Suggested Citation: Gramzow, Andreas (2005): Experience with endogenous rural development initiatives and the prospects for Leader+ in the region Dolina Strugu, Poland, Discussion Paper, No. 89, Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe (IAMO), Halle (Saale), https://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:gbv:3:2-2139

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/28494

#### ${\bf Standard\text{-}Nutzungsbedingungen:}$

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



#### **DISCUSSION PAPER**

#### Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe

# EXPERIENCE WITH ENDOGENOUS RURAL DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES AND THE PROSPECTS FOR LEADER+ IN THE REGION "DOLINA STRUGU", POLAND

**ANDREAS GRAMZOW** 

DISCUSSION PAPER No. 89 2005



Theodor-Lieser-Straße 2, 06120 Halle (Saale), Germany

Phone: +49-345-2928 110 Fax: +49-345-2928 199 E-mail: iamo@iamo.de Internet: http://www.iamo.de Dipl.-Ing. agr. Andreas Gramzow is research scholar at the Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe (IAMO), Division: External Environment for Agriculture and Policy Analysis, in Halle, Germany. His research mainly focuses on rural development in Poland and institutional economics.

Mailing address: Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe (IAMO)

Theodor-Lieser-Straße 2 06120 Halle (Saale)

Germany

Phone: +49-345-2928 125
Fax: +49-345-2928 199
E-mail: gramzow@iamo.de
Internet: http://www.iamo.de

Discussion Papers are interim reports on work of the Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe (IAMO) and have received only limited reviews. Views or opinions expressed in them do not necessarily represent those of IAMO. Comments are welcome and should be addressed directly to the author(s).

The series *Discussion Papers* is edited by:

Prof. Dr. Alfons Balmann (IAMO) Prof. Dr. Thomas Glauben (IAMO) Dr. Peter Weingarten (IAMO)

#### **ABSTRACT**

This paper presents the results of a case study of local economic development in Dolina Strugu, Podkarpackie voivodship, Poland. Its aim is to analyse local development problems and chances, to investigate the potential of endogenous initiatives to support economic development, and to examine the prospects for an implementation of the EU's initiative Leader+. The case study primarily relies on interviews conducted with local government authorities, NGOs, business owners and farmers in summer 2005. The hitherto unsatisfactory income situation in agriculture has been particularly precarious for the region because two thirds of the people in working age are employed in agriculture and alternative job opportunities are mostly absent. To respond to these problems, a number of development activities have been initiated by a local non-profit organisation called "Dolina Strugu". The initiative with the biggest influence on the regional income situation is the marketing cooperative "Chmielnik Zdrój", which is currently employing 400 local people. It buys products from local peasant farms, processes them and sells them to 70 000 households in the further ambit. "Dolina Strugu" and the local authorities successfully applied for the pilot measure to implement Leader+ within the scope of the Polish Sectoral Operational Plan. The need for a local development strategy and Leader's inherent incentives to improve and create income sources make its implementation a desirable objective. But there are also a number of barriers to successful implementation. Local knowledge of the community initiative should be improved, the local inhabitants' short term planning perspective must be addressed by an appropriate vision, local trust in EU institutions and programmes should be strengthened, and the cooperation between the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu" and the representatives of local government should be stabilised.

JEL: P 32, Q 13, R 11

Keywords: Rural development, endogenous initiative, Leader+, cooperation, Poland

#### **ZUSAMMENFASSUNG**

Erfahrungen mit endogenen ländlichen Entwicklungsmaßnahmen und Aussichten für Leader+ in der Region "Dolina Strugu" in Polen

In diesem Beitrag werden die Ergebnisse einer Fallstudie zur lokalen ökonomischen Entwicklung der Region Dolina Strugu in der polnischen Wojewodschaft Vorkarpaten vorgestellt. Ziel der Analyse ist es, Probleme und Chancen für die lokale Entwicklung der Region aufzuzeigen, das Potential endogener Maßnahmen für die wirtschaftliche Entwicklung zu untersuchen sowie die Erwartungen, die mit der Implementierung der Gemeinschaftsinitiative Leader+ in dieser Region verbunden werden, zu diskutieren. Die Fallstudie beruht größtenteils auf Interviews, die mit Vertretern lokaler Behörden, Nichtregierungsorganisationen, Unternehmern und Landwirten im Sommer 2005 durchgeführt wurden. Als prekär stellte sich für die betrachtete Region die derzeit unbefriedigende Einkommenssituation in der Landwirtschaft dar, da zwei Drittel der Bevölkerung im arbeitsfähigen Alter in diesem Sektor beschäftigt sind und es zudem an alternativen Arbeitsplätzen mangelt. Um den Problemen entgegenzutreten, wurden ausgehend von dem gemeinnützigen Verein "Dolina Strugu" verschiedene lokale Entwicklungsmaßnahmen durchgeführt. Die hinsichtlich der Verbesserung der Einkommenssituation einflussreichste Initiative ist die Vertriebsgenossenschaft "Chmielnik Zroj", die

derzeit 400 Arbeitnehmer aus der näheren Umgebung beschäftigt. Die Vertriebsgenossenschaft kauft Erzeugnisse lokaler Kleinbauern, verarbeitet diese Erzeugnisse und verkauft sie an 70 000 Haushalte im größeren Umkreis. "Dolina Strugu" bewarb sich zusammen mit den lokalen Behörden im Jahr 2005 erfolgreich für das Pilotprogramm zur Implementierung von Leader+ im Rahmen des polnischen Sektoralen Operativen Plans. Aufgrund des Bedarfs an einer lokalen Entwicklungsstrategie sowie den Leader+ inhärenten Anreizen, neue Einkommensquellen zu schaffen bzw. bestehende auszubauen, erscheint eine Implementierung dieser Maßnahme als wünschenswert. Jedoch bestehen derzeit noch Hürden, die eine erfolgreiche Implementierung behindern könnten. So fehlt in der Region oftmals wesentliches Wissen über die Gemeinschaftsinitiative. Des Weiteren sollte auf den kurzfristigen Planungshorizont der lokalen Bevölkerung mit angemessenen Entwicklungsstrategien bzw. -visionen reagiert, das lokale Vertrauen in EU-Institutionen und -Programme gestärkt und die Zusammenarbeit zwischen dem gemeinnützigen Verein "Dolina Strugu" und den lokalen Behörden stabilisiert werden.

JEL: P 32, Q 13, R 11

Schlüsselwörter: Ländliche Entwicklung, endogene Initiative, Leader+, Kooperation, Polen

#### **CONTENTS**

Abstract	3
Zusammenfassung	3
List of Tables	6
List of Maps	6
List of Abbreviations	6
1 Introduction	7
2 Perceived problems of the region	8
2.1 Agricultural sector	8
2.2 Labour market	10
2.3 Lack of cooperation between local businesses.	10
3 Chances and barriers for the development of Dolina Strugu in the eyes local inhabitants	
3.1 Cooperative organisations between farmers	11
3.2 Support of small business start-ups	12
3.3 Tourism and Agrotourism	13
4 Endogenous initiatives to overcome local development barriers	14
4.1 Chmielnik Zdrój – a self-help organisation aiming to improve farmers' income situation and rural livelihood	
4.2 Other local initiatives	17
4.3 Impact of the initiatives	17
4.4 A critical view on the development so far	18
5 Prospects of Leader+ in Dolina Strugu	18
5.1 Suggestions for potential Leader-type projects in Dolina Strugu	19
5.2 Possible obstacles to the implementation of the pilot measure in Dolina Strugu	ı 20
6 Conclusions	21
References	23

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Would you say that most of the time people in your commune try to be helpful?	10
Table 2:	Would you work on common social activities for your commune without any payments?	10
Table 3:	Trust of local inhabitants in different national or regional institutions	17
LIST OF M	[APS	
Map 1:	Case study region "Dolina Strugu" and Polish voivodships	7
LIST OF A	BBREVIATIONS	
LAG	Local action group	
Leader+	Liaison Entre Actions de Développement de l'Economie Rurale (Links between actions for the development of the rural economy)	
NGO	Non-governmental organisation	
ZUS	Zakładzie Ubezpieczeńia Społecznego (Social insurance scheme)	

#### 1 Introduction<sup>1, 2</sup>

The purpose of this paper is to analyse local development problems and chances in Dolina Strugu, to investigate the potential of endogenous initiatives to support economic development, and to examine the prospects for an implementation of the community initiative Leader+. The following analysis is based on the results of thirty-three open interviews that were conducted in September and October 2005 in the communes Błażowa, Tyczyn, Hyżene, and Chmielnik, which call themselves Dolina Strugu and are located in the district Rzeszowski, Podkarpackie voivodship (see Map 1). The interviews mainly concerned assessments of the regional development, regional problems and chances, the labour market, the agricultural situation, the impact of the EU accession, and the mentality of local citizens. Most of the interviews were made in the commune Błażowa. Due to a different economic development status between the four analyzed communes, the latter fact has to be taken into consideration when interpreting the results.

Warmińsko-Mazurskie achodniopomorskie Podlaskie Kujawsko-Pomorskie Wielkopolskie Lubuskie Mazowieckie Łódzkie Lubelskie Dolnośląskie Świętokrzyskie Opolskie "Dolina Strugu" Śląskie Podkarpackie Małopolskie

Map 1: Case study region "Dolina Strugu" and Polish voivodships

Source: Author's depiction.

\_

The author is indebted to Martin Petrick and Peter Weingarten for helpful comments on an earlier version of this paper. Furthermore, the author thanks Marek Ząbek as the main contact person in the case study region for his great support to coordinate the research stay as well as Piotr Krośniak for his assistance as interpreter in the conducted interviews. Many thanks also go to Urszula Budzich-Szukała, Kinga Boenning, and Jakub Ciołkowski for their kind cooperation.

This paper discusses one of three case studies which have been conducted in the South East and North West of Poland in the summer of 2005. The case studies constitute the empirical part of an ongoing dissertation which analysis the implementation process of the EU initiative Leader+ in Poland.

The region of Dolina Strugu covers an area of 300 km² in which approximately 38 000 inhabitants are living. The region's economy is strongly related to agriculture. About two thirds of the total working population work on individual farms, whereas younger farmers often have a second employment in Rzeszów, which is the next bigger city. The average farm size is slightly above 3 ha. Soil and climate conditions are moderate but the cultivation of land is limited by the hilly relief of the landscape. Agricultural production is dominated by plant production, predominant are cereals, soft fruits, feed and root plants. Animal production plays an inferior role, only a few farmers are specialised in pig or beef production. The unemployment rate in Dolina Strugu was about 18.3 % in 2005 (PUP 2005). In 2002, the Podkarpackie voivodship was the poorest Polish region with an average income per person equal to 71 % of the Polish average (Eurostat 2005). Due to the lack of job opportunities and the low income many young people already migrated to bigger cities or abroad.

This case study analysis proceeds as follows: Section 2 introduces the main problems seen by the interview partners of Dolina Strugu. Section 3 discusses chances for an economic development of the region and the barriers which hamper local actors to put more effort in realizing these chances. Section 4 presents successful endogenous initiatives which have already been undertaken by local representatives. Section 5 discusses the Leader+ implementation in Dolina Strugu. Section 6 concludes.

#### 2 Perceived problems of the region

In the following, the most important problems of the region mentioned by the interview partners are presented. The focus is on three main subjects: the agricultural sector, the labour market, and the lack of cooperation between local businesses.

To gain the information thirty-three interviews were conducted. Four interviews we made with representatives of the local authorities, five interviews with six representatives of the local non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu", fourteen interviews with local entrepreneurs, one interview with two representatives of the local cooperative bank, five interviews with local farmers, and five interviews with other local inhabitants. It has to be annotated that six interview partners which have been counted as entrepreneurs and representatives of the local authorities gain an additional income from farming. The interviews lasted between one and two hours in general. Most interviewees were selected by the snowball principle. We had one contact person who recommended us potential interview partners. These potential interview partners were asked for further interviewees. Our interview partners were not always been involved in the local development initiatives. Basically, we chose them because of their knowledge about the local economic situation due to their economic activity and because of their knowledge about the mentality of local inhabitants.

#### 2.1 Agricultural sector

Nearly all interviewees did not recognize any agricultural development or change in farming structures in the last fifteen years. Farmers reported that agricultural production costs in Dolina Strugu are in general, compared to other Polish regions, higher due to the small farm size, the fragmented land structure, the hilly relief of the landscape, and the often out-dated machinery used by farmers. Moreover, increasing prices for agricultural inputs led to a further increase of production costs. The latter, combined with a decrease of producer prices for plant products in the last few years lowered the farmers' income noticeable. With the increased quality requirements farmers have to fulfil due to the EU accession as well as the little bargaining power farms hold because of their size, peasants in Dolina Strugu often do not find a wholesaler for their products. Specialization or an improvement of production as potential

possibilities to increase the farm income, are mostly not seen as alternatives by peasant farms due to the following reasons they mentioned:

- 1) Farmers reported a high uncertainty in matters of future market prices as well as in finding opportunities to sell their products.
- 2) The low guarantees that farmers are able to offer together with the uncertain market situation detain peasants from applying for large investment loans. Interviews with representatives of a local cooperative bank exhibited that not more than 10 % of all farmer clients were using credits. Out of these 10 %, most credits were taken for consumption as also the average credit amount of 2 500 PLN [623 €] shows. In the last 10 years, only 26 out of 1 000 farmers raised an investment credit for buying land or new production facilities (this corresponds to the low leverage levels of farms reported in Petrick and Tyran (2003)).
- 3) Only a small amount of land is available on the regional land market. Farmers often see their land as a future insurance and are not willing to sell it. Moreover, land prices in Podkarpackie are so low, that farmers believe they would not be able to use the sale revenues to start a new existence somewhere else. The perception of low land prices is supported by ZMP (2002) data, according to which the average land price in Podkarpackie was only 73 % of the Polish average. Another fact that influences the land market on the demand side concerns the fragmented land structure. Farmers are mostly not interested in buying small plots as they see no chance to lower their average costs per production unit. The land lease market in Dolina Strugu is irrelevant.
- 4) Farms in "Dolina Strugu" are poorly-equipped and lots of farmers still cultivate their fields with horsepower. This is not only due to the lack of capital they face. As long as land consolidation does not take place the use of heavy equipment is supposed to be inefficient in this area.
- 5) Farmers' investment decisions are apparently also influenced by a lack of trust in the legal framework. Polish tax and insurance laws for businesses changed in the last few years so often that inhabitants say they cannot count on the legal framework. The missing trust in the Polish government activities is also visible in the results of a small anonymous survey we made in Dolina Strugu. 28 inhabitants were asked whether they trust different national and local institutions. 40 % of them declared that they rather not trust in the national government and 35 % stated they do not trust them at all.

Farmers in Dolina Strugu reported that even the EU accession did not change their income situation noticeably. Most farmers receive direct payments but due to decreasing producer prices as well as increasing input prices the income situation of peasant farms reportedly remains unstable. Further measures like the payments for semi-subsistence farms (1 250 €/year) and the assistance measures to meet challenges of the EU are rarely used in Dolina Strugu. Farms who apply for the assistance for semi-subsistence farms have to document an improvement in production within five years³. But farmers said because of the uncertain market situation most of them did not apply for this measure⁴. Small peasant farms in particular see themselves unable to apply for the assistance measures to improve production facilities to meet the EU standards, because all applicants are required to pre-finance their investments.

<sup>4</sup> This small number of applicants is actually not typical for Poland. According to FAPA, 116 780 farmers applied for the payments for semi-subsistence farms whereas 126 000 applicants have been expected (CHMIELEWSKA 2005).

-

However, if they do not realise this improvement, they do not have to pay back the received support.

#### 2.2 Labour market

Lack of job opportunities in Dolina Strugu due to an absence of big industries or service companies connected with the low level of wages<sup>5</sup> reportedly caused a high outflow of young people in working age during the last fifteen years. Besides agriculture there are not many other sectors which provide inhabitants with jobs, because as a result of a lack of good roads and sanitary infrastructure an industrial settlement is not expected to happen in the next few years. And even, if there is a supply of substantially higher paid jobs, farmers often see themselves unable to get these jobs mainly because they do not have the needed qualification or are too old. Furthermore, low wages as well as the high social insurance costs assumedly have led to an appearance of illegal businesses and an increase of illegal employment, which results in a weakening of the competitiveness of local legal businesses due to their comparably higher costs of production. Therefore, there is a perceived need of small and medium-sized enterprises which provide the region with new jobs, offer young people an opportunity to stay in Dolina Strugu and earn an income as well as give agricultural labour force an alternative income source to improve their current situation.

#### 2.3 Lack of cooperation between local businesses

Most of the interviewees stressed the importance of a cooperation between farms in producer groups or a cooperation between small firms in Dolina Strugu for the economic development of the region. Apparently successful examples of cooperation can be seen in different parishes of Dolina Strugu who construct churches on their own or fixed up the church roof without any financial assistance from outside. Also, the results of a small anonymous survey we conducted with 29 inhabitants of Dolina Strugu based on questions concerning people's willingness to cooperate show a great interest in cooperation. Table 1 displays that 83 % of the inhabitants answered to the question: "Would you say that most of the time people in your commune try to be helpful?" that most of the time or at least sometimes people would be helpful. Only 3 % expected no help from others at all. The results for the question concerning people's willingness to work on common social activities shown in Table 2 are even clearer. 90 % of the inhabitants we asked declared that they would always work in social projects or at least if they would have more time or money.

Table 1: Would you say that most of the time people in your commune try to be helpful?

Most of the time they would be helpful	55 %
Only sometimes they would be helpful	28 %
They would just help if it is in their own interest	14 %
Everybody is just looking for themselves and would not help somebody else	3 %

Source: Results of author's survey.

Table 2: Would you work on common social activities for your commune without any payments?

Always, even if I am not sure if most people would work on it, too	55 %
Yes, if I have more time or more money even if I am not sure if most people would	
work on it, too	35 %
I would just take part if I was sure that most people would work on it, too	10 %
I would not work on common social activities at all	0 %

Source: Results of author's survey.

<sup>5</sup> The average monthly gross wages in the Podkarpackie voivodship were in 2003 with 1 877 PLN [468 €] the lowest ones in whole Poland (GUS 2004).

This self-assessment of local citizens is however questionable if we consider that there rarely seems to be any cooperation between enterprises in Dolina Strugu at all. The interviewees often mentioned: "There was no big firm in this region, just always these small enterprises or just small services and they never had the idea to cooperate with each other". Inhabitants asked to explain this fact mostly said that there is a discrepancy between cooperation in social activities like in parishes or the strong company of neighbours and cooperation between small businesses. As one farmer mentioned: "It depends on the situation, maybe people cooperate when something bad has happened in your family, somebody died or something similar, but they do not help each other harvesting their fields, there is no cooperation on this way." Local business managers or farmers often answered as in the following quote: "People are willing to cooperate but when they reach the financial details of the cooperation, they always try to secure their own sources and negate their willingness to cooperate." As reasons for this behaviour inhabitants mentioned the transformation of the economical system from planning to market economy in the early 1990s, which made people more careful in terms of business cooperation. Furthermore, people from this region recognized also lots of failed business cooperations which dampened their trust in the latter, as the following two quotes of local business managers show: "Maybe if someone would come and start a cooperation, this might be possible, but you know how it looks in Poland, you always do not know if the man who started an initiative will share the profits later on" and "I do not want to have a cooperation due to my bad experiences, I know that everybody is just looking for his own profits, and I see it on other places that nobody wanted to invest in the firm but receive the profits". In addition, local citizens also stated that there is a "need of good examples for cooperation", because "if people see that a cooperation has success they would probably follow this way". And as often mentioned, a successful cooperation also needs trustworthy initiators who undertake the first steps or secure the founding sources for a cooperation, but one of these latter attributes is usually missing. Nevertheless, there is a need for cooperation between farmers and small businesses. Agricultural producer groups or cooperatives, e.g., enable the latter to lower production costs due to a sharing of equipment or to improve their market power in price negotiations with wholesalers. Likewise, a cooperation between small businesses may increase their creditworthiness if the entrepreneurs act mutually as guarantors in credit associations. Besides, a business cooperation eases also common actions of members concerning the provision of their products on national or international markets with the help of common product promotions or distribution channels.

### 3 CHANCES AND BARRIERS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF DOLINA STRUGU IN THE EYES OF LOCAL INHABITANTS

In this chapter chances for developing the region Dolina Strugu are discussed, based on suggestions made by the interviewees. The main focus is on cooperative organisations between farmers, the support of small enterprises, and tourism development.

#### 3.1 Cooperative organisations between farmers

Many interviewees regarded cooperation of farmers in cooperatives or producer groups as a viable solution to improve farmers' income. According to statements made during the interviews, producer groups or cooperatives that process milk products, soft fruits, or vegetables and bring them on the local or regional market would be favourable for this region. However, the results of the case study show that various constraints are likely to prevent successful cooperative action on the local level. Due to the failure of wheat, soft fruit and milk producer groups in Dolina Strugu, people have seen few successful examples for agricultural producer

groups in the last fifteen years. In particular, the following concerns were expressed by local interview respondents or emerged as a result of our data collection:

- 1. *Individual reservations against economic cooperation*. This is locally called the "Polish mentality" and was characterised by two local farmers in the following statements: "If the one who cooperates with me will earn higher profits from this cooperation than I do, I don't see any reasons to cooperate." and "If I join the cooperation, I will not get anything and the other farmers will increase their profits".
- 2. Lack of critical mass to form bargaining power. There is the widespread belief that, even if farmers joined a producer group, their bargaining power would still increase only marginally. Without a significant increase in bargaining power farmers could not negotiate higher prices, their main incentives to join a producer group.
- 3. *Difficulty of finding consensus*. It is estimated that producer groups in Dolina Strugu need more than a thousand members to achieve some bargaining power. But to find a consensus and to pass decisions in such a big group leads to high transaction costs and paralyses decision making.
- 4. *Risky business environment*. Producer groups which are specialised in a particular crop are supposed to face a greater risk of financial losses due to low prices or low yields in a given year. Farmers of Dolina Strugu made this experience within a soft fruit producer group in the middle of the 1990s. It collapsed after a few years due to a dramatical decrease in prices for soft fruits. As the farmers realized that they will not make profits within the producer group anymore they left the group.
- 5. Lack of finance. Respondents believed that producer groups in Dolina Strugu could only be successful if they process and market their products on their own. This requires founding capital that small peasant farms are not able to provide. Even if a bank agreed to give credits, a suitable guarantor would be hard to find. If guarantors were group members, a trust problem between guarantor and the remaining members appears. Questions raised during the interviews were such as: How can the guarantor be sure that the producer group will exist for a longer period and will be able to refund the credit? And how can the guarantor be sure that all members will contribute as best as possible to the success of the producer group?

As these concerns show, cooperation between farmers based on producer group or cooperatives in the region of Dolina Strugu seems to be fraught with difficulties.

#### 3.2 Support of small business start-ups

Most interviewees affirmed that local inhabitants are in general willing to start small businesses and to take responsibility that is linked with own initiatives. This is supported by the fact that the share of enterprises owned by natural persons in the total number of enterprises in the district Rzeszów is with 85 % in 2003 7 percentage points higher than the Polish average (GUS 2004). However, the total number of enterprises per 10 thousand inhabitants in the district Rzeszów is with 604 way below the national average of 938 (GUS 2004). Inhabitants reported that their decision to start-up small businesses or shops is constrained by the following barriers:

- 1) *High costs for social insurance*. Business start-ups used to pay 760 PLN [189 €] per month to the social insurance scheme (ZUS Zakładzie Ubezpieczeńia Społecznego) irrespective from their monthly revenue<sup>6</sup>.
- 2) Lacking demand for offered products. As a result of the low average income level in the region there appears to be a lack of demand for products or services. A local business manager described the problem as follows: "There is a problem with selling your products, it is hard to say, but I do not want to increase my production. If I would take a credit and employ somebody and produce more, the question arises: 'To whom should I sell my products?' I will not sell them, that is the problem." And another inhabitant said: "It is maybe not to difficult to start a business but it is hard to survive".
- 3) Lack of founding capital. Founder of businesses reported that they are often not able to receive credits due to a lack of guarantees. Furthermore, the risky business environment causes banks to demand high interest rates which lower the profitability of new investments and hamper young business start-ups to take loans. In addition, a local shop owner made the following observation: "If the young people face problems to find some sources to start a business, they mostly give up and often go to other countries."
- 4) Lack of marketing skills. Founder of small businesses often feel that they do not have enough knowledge to overcome problems of bureaucracy as well as how to promote and market their products.
- 5) Missing trust in the legal framework. The uncertainty concerning changes in the legal framework impedes inhabitants to undertake investments in their businesses or start new ones. On this a local business manager said: "The changing of law is the problem, you cannot be sure how the law will be in some weeks."

#### 3.3 Tourism and Agrotourism

As a further chance for regional development nearly all interviewees mentioned investments in tourism and agrotourism. As most of the asked inhabitants assess, the beautiful countryside, the favourable state of the natural environment as well as the proximity to the next bigger city Rzeszów provide Dolina Strugu with advantageous preconditions for tourism and agrotourism. Despite this assessment of the local inhabitants, a development of the tourism sector in the concerning region seems hardly visible. In 2003 the district Rzeszowski provided on average only 3.2 beds for tourists per 1 000 inhabitants of which only 18.5 % were offered by hotels, motels, or boarding houses<sup>7</sup>. Compared to this the Polish average offer of tourist beds per 1 000 inhabitants is 15.6 (GUS 2004). Besides a lack of hotels, pensions and restaurants or cafes also recreation infrastructure like lakes or hiking trails are missing. Different initiatives are already undertaken by the communes to create an artificial lake and a crosscountry skiing area, but most of these initiatives are hampered by financial resources, a lack of coordination between local inhabitants and representatives of the communes, an insufficient endowment with good roads and canalisation infrastructure as well as property right conflicts regarding the areas where the recreation infrastructure should develop on. Respondents complained that there is no strategy for tourism development of the local region, and the initiatives which are undertaken by the different villages frequently seem to have no connection. Due to the need of new income sources for small farms, some agrotourism facilities have

This law was changed in 2005 due to a new one that enables new business start-ups in Poland to pay a reduced amount for social insurance for the first two years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Similar findings for the development of tourism in Polish rural areas can be found in BAŃSKI (2004).

already appeared in Dolina Strugu. But except for a few training workshops there is rarely any assistance for these businesses. There appears hence to be little help to promote offers and little advice for preparing facilities and standards for accommodations.

#### 4 ENDOGENOUS INITIATIVES TO OVERCOME LOCAL DEVELOPMENT BARRIERS

In the previous chapter the respondents views concerning chances for local development as well as internal and external barriers are presented. In this chapter a number of endogenous initiatives aiming to overcome the described barriers and to respond to local needs are analysed.

The impetus to start endogenous initiatives in order to respond on local needs was set in 1991, when a telephone cooperative was founded by the mayors of the four communes together with other representatives of the local authorities. The idea was to improve the communicational infrastructure of the four communes to provide small businesses with a better technical infrastructure. In 1991 these four communes had only access to 800 telephone subscribers and the state-owned telephone company was not willing to invest in this region any further. The founding capital of the cooperative consisted of fees (900 PLN [224 €]) every inhabitant joining this telephone cooperative had to pay. Additional capital was taken from bank credits whereas the communes and some local leaders acted as guarantor. With the help of this founding capital a new telephone network was set up and the number of subscribers in Dolina Strugu increased until now to about 9 600 in 40 villages. Besides this, for the 6 500 members of the telephone cooperative local calls have been costless. To influence the telephone cooperatives decisions, every 1 000 members or every village, if it had less than 1 000 members, elected a representative who participates in the annual cooperative meetings. Since 1993 the telephone cooperative has been able to work without any additional financial support.

On the basis of the successful experience of cooperation, leading members of the telephone cooperative as well as of local authorities founded a non-profit organisation called "Dolina Strugu"8. One of the founding members of the non-profit organisation explained their ambitions as follows: "After we had success we still wanted to cooperate and wanted to change something in the region, and that is why we started this association to find solutions for the problems in this region". Its objectives were to solve communal infrastructure problems, support the environmental protection of the area, promote the region, and stimulate economic activities in the region. During the period of the association's establishment the idea of a partnership between local authorities, private businesses, and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) became more important. Their work was also influenced by Leader+ experts from Portugal which cooperated with "Dolina Strugu" in 1996. Since 1994, this non-profit organisation has formed different local initiatives based on involvement and motivation of local inhabitants, all operating under the name "Sami Sobie (Ourselves for Ourselves)". In addition, one important task of the non-profit organisation is to apply for national and international grants and commercial investments. In the following it is examined to which extent endogenous initiatives starting from this organisation responded on local needs and contributed to the development of the region.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> If the name "Dolina Strugu" is used in quotation marks it concerns the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu". The name Dolina Strugu used without quotation marks means the region of analysis.

### 4.1 Chmielnik Zdrój – a self-help organisation aiming to improve farmers' income situation and rural livelihood

As one of the first initiatives of "Dolina Strugu", "Chmielnik Zdrój" was founded with start-up funds partly from the communes (especially the Chmielnik commune) and partly from a loan secured by using local leaders' houses as collateral. It is a limited liability entity located in Chmielnik, one of the four communes of Dolina Strugu. The most important associates are the four communes of Dolina Strugu and the members of the local non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu", which was the main initiator of "Chmielnik Zdrój". Farmers' relation to "Chmielnik Zdrój" is market based, they are usually not members and do not pay any fees. As "Chmielnik Zdrój" was founded in 1994, its main objectives were to create new jobs for people from the Dolina Strugu region, to give farmers the opportunity to sell their products, to provide people from the region with local, traditionally made products, and to keep the environment and fields in a good and environmentally friendly condition. They started with providing the regional population with mineral water. In the following years they added further products and increased their production capacities very fast. In 2005, "Chmielnik Zdrój" employed 400 people and bought products from more than 500 small farms of Dolina Strugu. In the closer region as well as in the regions around Kraków, Rzeszów, Tarnów and Lublin, they provide 70 000 households with processed products (vegetables, fruits, honey, bread, jam, soups and pasta) and beverages, with 170 vehicles. Clients just have to call or use the internet to order their purchase and it will be delivered to their homes. Farmers have short or medium-term contracts with "Chmielnik Zdrój" which enable them to sell their products without delivering them to a far away wholesale company. It provides them with a basic source of income and a certainty about the future market situation in the next year. Furthermore, "Chmielnik Zdrój" processes farmers' products and sells them directly to the clients. It also supports farmers in applying for ecological certification. For the next years they plan to assist farmers in their decisions concerning their production programme. Local farmers receive information about EU programmes and assistance in applying for direct payments or other funds for free from an office which is mainly financed by the local non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu".

Besides agriculture, there are clear signs that "Chmielnik Zdrój" has also influenced the rural development and the regional income noticeably. It provides non-farm jobs, which leads to an improvement of the economic situation of rural households and counteracts the migration of young people in bigger cities or foreign countries. Furthermore, the local population is able to buy products from their region with the knowledge to support the regional development and to keep their environment in good condition.

The key factors that made "Chmielnik Zdrój" so successful are its specific organisational set-up as a public-private partnership, its market-oriented way of risk sharing, as well as the fact that it was built on local needs, and thus emerged as a true bottom-up self-help organisation. Most associates used to work for at least one legislative period for the local governments and due to this, they generated an eye for local problems and had, as local politicians, an own incentive to respond to local needs. Due to their detailed knowledge about local circumstances, the founding members of "Chmielnik Zdrój" were able to create an organization that provides locally viable solutions for the current problems in agriculture and the rural economy. It is a prime example for the rule that successful cooperation critically depends on the initiative of the affected individuals and their willingness to contribute to their development. However, the actively participating members are only a small number of local government representatives and local leader persons. This makes "Chmielnik Zdrój" a public-private partnership distinct from traditional farmers' cooperatives, an approach that helps to overcome a number of obstacles to cooperation mentioned earlier.

Based on the case study results, the major success factors of "Chmielnik Zdrój" can be summarized as follows:

1. Market-based approach limits risk of long-term involvement for farmers. Farmers do not have to pay any fees or invest own funds and they do not have to take the risk of setting up the organization. Due to farmers' market-based relation to "Chmielnik Zdrój", there is little danger of a Hold-up for them. Furthermore, a contract between the commune Chmielnik and "Chmielnik Zdrój" guarantees local farmers' that they can sell their products to the organization before it is allowed to buy products from other regions. The main risk has been taken by the communes as well as by local leaders who are engaged in the management of "Chmielnik Zdrój". Furthermore, the wide array of products "Chmielnik Zdrój"

provides limits the risk of a product failure.

- 2. Set-up as a public-private partnership with a limited number of members eases decision making and allows a professional management. "Chmielnik Zdrój" is employing a professional management that covers the tasks concerning processing and marketing of farmers' products. Likewise, according to its marketing concept, "Chmielnik Zdrój" sells its products not to a wholesaler and therefore, it is not forced to use any bargaining power in price negotiations. Additionally, there is also trust and a close cooperation between the management of "Chmielnik Zdrój" and the other associates. This is due to the fact that the manager was already involved in the telephone cooperative and that the associates are a small group of local inhabitants who already made successful experiences in cooperation within the telephone cooperative. Thus the problem of individual reservations against cooperation could be overcome. The engagement of local governments as guarantors greatly eased the funding problem of the public-private partnership.
- 3. Complementary services offered to farmers provide incentives for a long-term business relation and serve as quality control mechanism. Due to the service of the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu", farmers receive assistance in applying for EU programmes as well as direct payments. This is particularly important for the high number of part-time farmers. In addition, farmers receive assistance in applying for the certification for ecological production from "Chmielnik Zdrój". If local authorities prove that farmers fulfill the criteria for ecological production, this works as an additional product control system for the marketing cooperative.
- True bottom-up approach secures support and trust of the local population. The engagement of associates of "Chmielnik Zdrój" in the telephone cooperative served as a reputation-generating mechanism toward the local community. It was particularly well received that the telephone cooperative gave a share of their profits to the local community by offering them free local calls. Moreover, 10 % of the profits from "Chmielnik Zdrój" are donated to local soup kitchens. This is stated on all product labels and improves the local trust as well. Vehicle drivers of "Chmielnik Zdrój" were given the keys to many houses or flats of their clients in Dolina Strugu and the surrounding regions to deliver them when they are absent. The trust in the local products of "Chmielnik Zdrój" can also be seen in the following two quotes of local farmers: "It is a very good idea and I am very proud that we have that in our region" and "It is a very positive programme and it is a good way to defend the Polish products against all the companies which came from the West and produce cheaper as the small butcher shops and bakeries. These small butchers and bakeries are all collapsing right now." The trust in local leaders and in "Chmielnik Zdrój" also became visible in the small survey mentioned above, during which we also asked about trust in different national and local institutions. Table 3 shows that trust in representatives

of local institutions (i.e., members of the non-profit organisation and the mayor) is way higher than in national institutions.

Table 3: Trust of local inhabitants in different national or regional institutions

Question: Whom do you trust?

	A lot	A bit	Rather not	Not at all	N
President (%)	4	50	32	14	28
Government (%)	0	25	40	35	28
Local Administration (%)	0	39	54	7	28
Members of the non-profit org. (%)	12	65	24	0	17 <sup>1)</sup>
Mayor (%)	0	63	26	11	27

Notes: 1) Remaining 12 respondents said they do not have enough knowledge about the non-profit organisation to answer this question.

Source: Results of author's survey.

#### 4.2 Other local initiatives

Besides the previously mentioned marketing cooperative, "Dolina Strugu" also undertook initiatives explicitly directed to improve the situation on the regional labour market. "Dolina Strugu" provides a labour agency for local inhabitants, where job applicants receive assistance to find new workplaces. Especially young job applicants gain knowledge concerning their right preparation for job applications and their behaviour in job interviews. Additionally, Dolina Strugu organises workshops for people who want to start-up a business and for young entrepreneurs. In 2002, with the help of financial assistance from the World Bank, an advisory agency for new business start-ups could emerge as a further initiative. This agency assists

interested business starters and existing small enterprises to overcome bureaucracy problems, to find financial resources or to improve the current production. It also offers loans to entrepreneurs if they can nominate two guarantors. The interest rates are way below the ones of commercial credits, which is supposed to ease the start-up of small businesses. Since its foundation the agency has advised more than 400 inhabitants. This is free of charge for the clients, because the costs are covered by the financial assistance of the World Bank.

#### 4.3 Impact of the initiatives

The current major initiatives to improve rural livelihood in the four communes of Dolina Strugu are a) the initial telephone cooperative founded in 1991, b) the marketing cooperative "Chmielnik Zdrój", c) a local labour agency, and d) an advisory agency for business start-ups which also runs a credit facility. The latter three initiatives all emerged from the positive experience of the telephone cooperative and are managed by the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu". The impact of these initiatives was primarily as follows: The telephone cooperative meets an important consumer need. Furthermore, it strengthens the competitiveness of local businesses. In the four communes of Dolina Strugu, the number of businesses per 100 inhabitants increased between 1995 and 2001 from 2.2 to 5.1, whereas in other rural communes near Rzeszów this number moved up only slightly from 2.2 to 2.3 per 100 inhabitants (UNDP 2003). "Chmielnik Zdrój" contributes to the improvement of the rural livelihood by providing small farmers with the opportunity to sell their products. It consolidates their income situation and employs 400 rural people. Inhabitants who used to be engaged in the management of the telephone cooperative as well as representatives of the local authorities emphasized the generally increased willingness to cooperate in this region. There is a bigger

trust in local institutions compared to national institutions, which is likely a result of the endogenous initiatives.

#### 4.4 A critical view on the development so far

Despite these successful outcomes of the locally based initiatives, there are still several problems remaining in Dolina Strugu region. In fact, "Chmielnik Zdrój" has a lasting positive influence on farmers' income and rural livelihood, but it is not able to contribute to a structural change in agriculture. The problem of a missing willingness to cooperate in producer groups could not be overcome. This self-help organisation is able to provide small farms in the area with the opportunity to sell their products, but medium-sized farms with about 5 ha and more still face the problem of finding no wholesaler or receiving comparably low prices for their products due to a lack of market power. One farmer reported: "They consolidate mostly small farms which have a half ha of potatoes. I remember, there were some situations where farmers had very good yields and than they had problems to sell their crops because they [the marketing cooperative] did not need that much." Therefore, medium sized farms and even larger farms are still looking for possibilities to sell there products or as a farmer stated: "farmers here are waiting for another place to sell their crops, a small processing plant is really needed in here". On this account "Chmielnik Zdrój might be a positive example and a promising incentive for similar cooperative initiatives, such as founding processing plants. Furthermore, the advisory agency of "Dolina Strugu" eases farmers' access to additional financial sources which could lead to further farm investments and an improvement of their competitiveness.

The periodical change of local governments in three of the four communes of Dolina Strugu led to a decline of cooperation between the non-profit organisation and the representatives of the local authorities. This is primarily due to the frequent replacement of local authority representatives. As some interview partners mentioned, the relationship between the local governments seems to be more characterised by competition than by cooperation. Supposedly, due to the success of the organisation and its high acceptance among local inhabitants, local government authorities fear a loss of power. This in turn results in coordination problems between the local authorities and the organisation's initiatives. For example, a common strategy for regional tourism development is still missing. Actions undertaken by the local authorities like creating the artificial lake are not coordinated with "Dolina Strugu".

#### 5 PROSPECTS OF LEADER+ IN DOLINA STRUGU

In 2004, the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu" together with the local authorities of the four communes of the region applied for the pilot measure to implement the community initiative Leader+. In the EU-15, Leader-type programmes have been implemented since 1991. Leader+ is based on the creation of local development strategies by using local capabilities. The core of Leader-type projects constitute "local action groups (LAGs)" consisting of representatives of local authorities, local businesses and local NGOs<sup>9</sup>. With the help of a pilot measure which is part of the Sectoral Operational Plan, Poland undertakes actions to implement a Leader-type measure in the period of 2004 until 2006. The implementation measure consists of two schemes which mainly focus on the elaboration of regional development strategies, the formation of LAGs as well as the promotion of the community initiative Leader+ in the regions. In the following, it is discussed how the pilot measure and also potential Leader-type projects could contribute to the regional development of Dolina Strugu. How the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For more detailed information on Leader+ see EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2000).

community initiative Leader+ will be implemented in Poland after 2007 is as yet unknown. The feasibility of the suggestions for potential Leader-type projects presented below will be influenced by the specific design Leader+ will have in Poland.

#### 5.1 Suggestions for potential Leader-type projects in Dolina Strugu

The applicants for the pilot measure hope for a stronger assistance in regional development. The following three project suggestions of the author may contribute to stronger economic development of the region after Leader has been fully implemented in Poland:

- Leader-type projects could support the creation of local processing plants for milk, vegetables or soft fruits. The first initiative may start from the LAG. It could essentially contribute to the creation of a marketing concept and organise common meetings with farmers which would help to overcome the problem of the often missing first initiative. Due to financial assistance from Leader, the LAG could contribute partly to the processing plant with some founding capital. Also, if the local cooperative bank or other interested investors would be involved in the planning process of the marketing concept of the processing plants, it would enable these potential investors to bring in their requirements of credit-worthiness and may secure additional financial sources.
- An idea mentioned by the applicants for the pilot measure in Dolina Strugu concerns the creation of a local fund for small businesses. As already mentioned in section 4.2, there is a great interest of local citizens in the business start-up programme financed by the World Bank. On this account a local fund partly financed by Leader sources could provide further business start-ups with founding or investment capital to reasonable conditions. Furthermore, the experiences which have been made with the World Bank programme may contribute to a successful realization of this initiative. To finance local funds, however, will approximately not be possible only with Leader-sources due to the limited amount of money the LAG will receive. But sources from Leader may contribute to a local fund which is in the literature of rural credit markets known as rotating credit association (BOUMAN 1995). The latter is based on a group of inhabitants who agree to contribute regularly a certain amount of money to a fund which is given, in whole or in part, to each contributor in rotation. Every member of this rotating credit association could therefore receive after a fixed period some capital which he can invest to increase the production of his firm or to start-up a new business. It goes without saying that this rotating credit association requires a certain amount of trust between the contributors, but positive experiences with the telephone cooperative, which also based on individual contributions of the members as well as a control mechanism conducted by a board of trustees, as which the LAG could act, may secure contributors' trust in the association. A local fund could help small businesses to overcome the bureaucracy problems which are connected with application for EU funds or bank credits and also the founding capital which could be taken from Leader-sources eases to undertake the first actions to found a local fund. 10
- A Leader-type project, especially the LAG as its core, could assist the local civil society
  to develop an economic development strategy for the region Dolina Strugu. It could also
  prompt the four communes to work together on a regional development concept and prohibit
  therefore that all four communes take separate ways. In particular, for a further development of tourism and agrotourism, a common strategy may support local initiators and local

Formally, a rotating credit association is not allowed under the current Polish law. The so called "Argentinian credit system" has been banned since it supposedly opens opportunities for fraud. But further investigations on this topic might be useful.

investors to plan and coordinate their activities as well as to promote their region. It may also ease to create common standards for tourist accommodation, to coordinate tourist attractions like hiking trails, cycling paths or a common ski area which have been mentioned by local inhabitants as ways for tourist development. Furthermore, Leader-sources could support investments in the tourism infrastructure as well as in particular projects like the creation of the artificial lake or further investments in accommodations. A strategy itself may also ease the involvement of other investors like the local cooperative bank, which would perhaps not be willing to support just single investments.

#### 5.2 Possible obstacles to the implementation of the pilot measure in Dolina Strugu

Based on the case study research, a number of potential barriers to the implementation of the community initiative in this region can be identified:

- Knowledge about Leader-type projects in the local society is not very widespread. Most representatives of the local authorities and the local population except the representatives of the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu" are not endued with necessary knowledge about Leader and its potential influence on local and regional development.
- As the application for direct payments showed, there is a lack of trust among the local society in the reliability of sources coming from the European Union. For this reason, in 2004, only 42 % of local farmers applied for direct payments. Similar reasons may also dilute their incentives to contribute to a successful implementation of the pilot measure. However, this prejudice might possibly change, since more than 90 % of the farmers applied for direct payments in 2005.
- A further barrier could be the lack of local associations or NGOs in general. Besides some rural women circles in small villages, with mostly older members, there are almost no associations which undertake any actions to improve the regional identification or to contribute to regional development. Due to the absence of local associations, important contact persons between the local authorities or applicants for the pilot measure to implement the community initiative Leader and the local civic society are missing. Therefore, it is necessary to increase endeavours to promote the idea of Leader in local presentations, local newspapers and other media to persuade local inhabitants to take part in the LAG and the development activities.
- Obstructive on the way to a successful implementation of Leader could also be the limited cooperation between local authorities and "Dolina Strugu" as explained in section 4.4. But the new possibility of cooperation the LAG provides may help to overcome the latter problem. The local authorities could cooperate with the non-profit organisation in realising the common aim of regional development without joining the non-profit organisation and therefore without biasing their objectives.
- An obstacle for the involvement of local inhabitants in the realisation of common development projects seems to be the perceived short term perspective or even myopia of local inhabitants as a result of the poor social and economic situation many inhabitants face currently. On this account many local citizens will not contribute to the elaboration of economic development initiatives since investment sources from Leader will be available in the distant future (see section 5). Within the pilot measure there will be no investment sources for local inhabitants.
- A further obstacle for the involvement of local citizens might be the missing trust in their own ability to contribute conspicuously to local development. People generally attribute

the responsibility for any local development to local government authorities. This can be seen in the following statement of a local inhabitant: "Everything depends on the mayor, people here have no money and no power, so they cannot do anything. The people here will not be against new activities, but if they are in committees without any power and any money, what should they do?"

- The involvement of local inhabitants is also biased by the strong position of the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu", which will be a main pillar for the implementation of Leader due to its large experience in rural development. However, its overwhelming presence may also dampen the local population's interest in additional initiatives. Therefore, an early involvement of the local population with the help of large meetings and workshops as well as the explicit invitation to local citizens to bring in their ideas is indispensable.
- The lack of capital of most local inhabitants might inhibit the implementation of Leader-type projects in 2007. As Leader-type projects have to be pre-financed as well as funded with own financial contributions, this may unduly favour local governments as compared to small businesses or private initiatives, which do not have sufficient financial sources available.

#### 6 CONCLUSIONS

This case study analysis contains an overview of the main problems and chances, the self-help initiatives undertaken to encourage regional development and the main current results of the latter as well as a discussion on the appliance of the pilot measure to implement the community initiative Leader in the region Dolina Strugu.

The poor income situation of local farms, the lack of employment opportunities and the missing economic cooperation between inhabitants are regarded as the major difficulties. To counter these problems, local endogenous development initiatives starting from a telephone cooperative and widely conducted by a single non-profit organisation named "Dolina Strugu" emerged in the early 1990s. One successful initiative based on the latter activities has been the public-private partnership "Chmielnik Zdrój". This organisation buys products from local peasant farms to process and sell them to clients in the further ambit. Besides its influence on farmers' income, "Chmielnik Zdrój" also employs 400 rural inhabitants and contributes therefore noticeable to an increase of rural livelihood in the region. Furthermore, a labour agency and a start-up fund for small businesses have been created by the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu".

In 2005, the region Dolina Strugu was accepted for the pilot measure to implement the community initiative Leader which should strengthen the realization of endogenous activities. Furthermore, Leader-type projects may assist the elaboration of further initiatives to force the regional economical development. Three possible Leader-type projects have been suggested by the author in this paper. But the feasibility of the suggestions for potential Leader-type projects will be influenced by the specific design Leader+ will have in Poland. How the community initiative Leader+ will be implemented in Poland after 2007 is as yet unknown. The suggestions regarding: 1) the creation of a marketing concept for processing plants for milk products, soft fruits or vegetables as well as to contribute partly with Leader-sources to the initial investments; 2) the initiation of a local fund for small businesses assisted with Leader-sources and based on a rotating credit association; 3) the development of a local tourism strategy which coordinates local activities on tourism development between all involved actors.

There are still some obstacles which may hamper a successful implementation of Leader in the region. First of all, a successful appliance of the pilot measure to implement Leader requires a strong commitment of the local civil society to the undertaken actions. This may be impeded by a missing knowledge the local inhabitants have about the community initiative as well as by a lack of associations in the region which could act as contact persons between the local authorities and the local society in order to ease first implementation activities. Therefore, an extensive promotion of Leader-type projects with the help of workshops and presentations in the region Dolina Strugu is indispensable. A further obstacle is the short term perspective in which local inhabitants often plan and the disregard they attribute to Leader which follows from the fact that investment sources from Leader may be disposable in 2007 at the earliest. To overcome the missing initiative due to the short term perspective of many inhabitants, a number of steps may be undertaken. It seems necessary to present successful Leadertype projects from other European member states, to explain the core idea of Leader, and to discuss its possible outcomes. This would create incentives for local inhabitants to contribute to a successful implementation even if the results show up only in a few years. The fact that the Leader budget will not be allocated by the local authorities but by the LAG, and because local inhabitants may actively become involved in the LAG, the willingness of the local society to contribute with ideas and concepts to local development may be strengthened. The appliance of the pilot measure to implement Leader in the region strongly depends on the non-profit organisation "Dolina Strugu". Therefore, it would probably increase inhabitant's participation if the non-profit organisation would explain their ideas concerning Leader-type projects within local medias, introduce their already made experience of cooperation with the help of presentations or workshops and, this is most important, involve them more strongly in the undertaken activities. This non-profit organisation, not at least due to the confidence local inhabitants have in this organisation (see section 4.1), might be an important key to encourage the local society to contribute to local development initiatives. Furthermore, a lack of cooperation between the local authorities and "Dolina Strugu" as well as the different political attitudes of local leaders which may reduce their willingness to cooperate could complicate the implementation of Leader. However, the requirement for participants to closely work together in the LAG might force them to overcome this problem.

Nevertheless, the community initiative can be seen as a significant chance to contribute experience in rural development in order to elaborate a coordinated strategy for Dolina Strugu. It offers the opportunity to involve the local society in these activities, which may result in a better coordination and higher acceptance of activities. Leader-type projects should foster

cooperation between local businesses and farms. But it has to be conceded that Leader will not solve all current problems. It may strengthen endogenous initiatives, but questions concerning the funding of bigger activities like "Chmielnik Zdrój" will not be solved by Leader. Non-profit organisations like "Dolina Strugu" rarely receive commercial bank credits, which led to a reliance on local authorities to secure investment credits from banks. Also the community initiative requires pre-funding of investments and equity like other EU programmes. This is a major obstacle for non-profit organisations, small business start-ups or private initiatives. On this account, it might be worth considering to concentrate ambitions on creating a local fund, which will contribute to one of the currently most important problems, the lack of capital for small businesses.

#### REFERENCES

- BAŃSKI, J. (2004): The development of non-agricultural economic activity in Poland's rural areas, in: BAŃSKI, J. (eds.): Changing functions of rural areas in the Baltic Sea Region, Warsaw, pp. 31-44.
- BOUMAN, F. J. A. (1995): Rotating and accumulating savings and credit associations: A development perspective, *World Development*, *Vol. 23*, pp. 371-384.
- CHMIELEWSKA, W. (2005): Notice in writing.
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2000): Commission notice to the member states laying down guidelines for the Community initiative for rural development (Leader+), *C 139/5*, <a href="http://europa.eu.int/comm/agriculture/rur/leaderplus/pdf/library/methodology/139">http://europa.eu.int/comm/agriculture/rur/leaderplus/pdf/library/methodology/139</a> en.pdf>.
- EUROSTAT (2005): Regional Statistics from the EUROSTAT Database, <a href="http://epp.eurostat.cec.eu.int/portal/page?">http://epp.eurostat.cec.eu.int/portal/page?</a> pageid=1090,30070682,1090 33076576& dad=portal& schema=PORTAL>.
- GŁOWNY URZĄD STATYSTYCZNY (GUS) (2004): Rocznik Statystyczny Województw, Warszawa (GUS).
- PETRICK, M., TYRAN, E. (2003): Subsistence farms in South-eastern Poland: Social buffer stock or commercial agriculture?, in: ABELE, S., FROHBERG, K. (eds.): Subsistence Agriculture in Central and Eastern Europe: How to Break the Vicious Circle?, IAMO, *Studies on the Agricultural and Food Sector in Central and Eastern Europe, Vol.* 22, Halle (Saale), <a href="http://www.iamo.de/dok/sr-vol22.pdf">http://www.iamo.de/dok/sr-vol22.pdf</a>, pp. 107-123.
- PUP (2005): Labour agency of the district Rzeszów (Powiatowy Urzad Pracy w Rzeszówie), <a href="http://www.pup.rzeszow.pl">http://www.pup.rzeszow.pl</a>.
- UNDP (2003): Development of the Strug Valley in Result of the Application of Information and Communication Technologies and Innovations, Warsaw, <a href="http://www.undp.org.pl/en/center.php?nr=196">http://www.undp.org.pl/en/center.php?nr=196</a>.
- ZMP (2004): Der Bodenmarkt in den EU-Beitrittsländern (Land market in the EU accession countries), *ZMP Osteuropa, Agrarmärkte Aktuell*, Sonderdruck.

## DISCUSSION PAPERS DES INSTITUTS FÜR AGRARENTWICKLUNG IN MITTEL- UND OSTEUROPA (IAMO)

## DISCUSSION PAPERS OF THE INSTITUTE OF AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT IN CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE (IAMO)

- No. 1 FROHBERG, K., HARTMANN, M. (1997):
  Promoting CEA Agricultural Exports through Association Agreements with the EU
   Why is it not working?
- No. 2 FROHBERG, K., HARTMANN, M. (1997): Comparing Measures of Competitiveness: Examples for Agriculture in the Central European Associates
- No. 3 POGANIETZ, W. R., GLAUCH, L. (1997):
  Migration durch EU-Integration? Folgen für den ländlichen Raum
- No. 4 Weingarten, P. (1997):
  Agri-Environmental Policy in Germany Soil and Water Conversation –
- No. 5 KOPSIDIS, M. (1997):

  Marktintegration und landwirtschaftliche Entwicklung: Lehren aus der Wirtschaftsgeschichte und Entwicklungsökonomie für den russischen Getreidemarkt im Transformationsprozeβ
- No. 6 PIENIADZ, A. (1997):

  Der Transformationsprozeß in der polnischen Ernährungsindustrie von 1989 bis 1995
- No. 7 POGANIETZ, W. R. (1997):
  Vermindern Transferzahlungen den Konflikt zwischen Gewinnern und Verlierern in einer sich transformierenden Volkswirtschaft?
- No. 8 EPSTEIN, D. B., SIEMER, J. (1998):
  Difficulties in the Privatization and Reorganization of the Agricultural Enterprises in Russia
- No. 9 GIRGZDIENE, V., HARTMANN, M., KUODYS, A., RUDOLPH, D., VAIKUTIS, V., WANDEL, J. (1998):

  Restructuring the Lithuanian Food Industry: Problems and Perspectives
- No. 10 JASJKO, D., HARTMANN, M., KOPSIDIS, M., MIGLAVS, A., WANDEL, J. (1998): Restructuring the Latvian Food Industry: Problems and Perspectives
- No. 11 SCHULZE, E., NETZBAND, C. (1998):

  Ergebnisse eines Vergleichs von Rechtsformen landwirtschaftlicher Unternehmen in Mittel- und Osteuropa

- No. 12 BERGSCHMIDT, A., HARTMANN, M. (1998):
  Agricultural Trade Policies and Trade Relations in Transition Economies
- No. 13 ELSNER, K., HARTMANN, M. (1998):

  Convergence of Food Consumption Patterns between Eastern and Western Europe
- No. 14 FOCK, A., VON LEDEBUR, O. (1998): Struktur und Potentiale des Agraraußenhandels Mittel- und Osteuropas
- No. 15 ADLER, J. (1998):

  Analyse der ökonomischen Situation von Milchproduktionsunternehmen im Oblast Burgas, Bulgarien
- No. 16 PIENIADZ, A., RUDOLPH, D. W., WANDEL, J. (1998):

  Analyse der Wettbewerbsprozesse in der polnischen Fleischindustrie seit Transformationsbeginn
- No. 17 Shvytov, I. (1998):
  Agriculturally Induced Environmental Problems in Russia
- No. 18 SCHULZE, E., TILLACK, P., DOLUD, O., BUKIN, S. (1999):

  Eigentumsverhältnisse landwirtschaftlicher Betriebe und Unternehmen in Rußland und in der Ukraine Befragungsergebnisse aus den Regionen Nowosibirsk und Shitomir
- No. 19 PANAYOTOVA, M., ADLER, J. (1999):
  Development and Future Perspectives for Bulgarian Raw Milk Production towards
  EU Quality Standards
- No. 20 WILDERMUTH, A. (1999): What Kind of Crop Insurance for Russia?
- No. 21 GIRGZDIENE, V., HARTMANN, M., KUODYS, A., VAIKUTIS, V., WANDEL, J. (1999): Industrial Organisation of the Food Industry in Lithuania: Results of an Expert Survey in the Dairy and Sugar Branch
- No. 22 JASJKO, D., HARTMANN, M., MIGLAVS, A., WANDEL, J. (1999): Industrial Organisation of the Food Industry in Latvia: Results of an Expert Survey in the Dairy and Milling Branches
- No. 23 ELSNER, K. (1999):
  Analysing Russian Food Expenditure Using Micro-Data
- No. 24 PETRICK, M., DITGES, C. M. (2000):
  Risk in Agriculture as Impediment to Rural Lending The Case of North-western Kazakhstan
- No. 25 POGANIETZ, W. R. (2000): Russian Agri-Food Sector: 16 Months After the Breakdown of the Monetary System

- No. 26 Weber, G., Wahl, O., Meinlschmidt, E. (2000):

  Auswirkungen einer EU-Osterweiterung im Bereich der Agrarpolitik auf den EU-Haushalt

  (steht nicht mehr zur Verfügung aktualisierte Version DP 42)
- No. 27 WAHL, O., WEBER, G., FROHBERG, K. (2000):
  Documentation of the Central and Eastern European Countries Agricultural Simulation Model (CEEC-ASIM Version 1.0)
- No. 28 PETRICK, M. (2000):

  Land Reform in Moldova: How Viable are Emerging Peasant Farms? An assessment referring to a recent World Bank study
- No. 29 WEINGARTEN, P. (2000):

  Buchbesprechung: BECKMANN, V. (2000): Transaktionskosten und institutionelle
  Wahl in der Landwirtschaft: Zwischen Markt, Hierarchie und Kooperation
- No. 30 Brosig, S. (2000):

  A Model of Household Type Specific Food Demand Behaviour in Hungary
- No. 31 UVAROVSKY, V., VOIGT, P. (2000): Russia's Agriculture: Eight Years in Transition – Convergence of Regional Efficiency
- No. 32 SCHULZE, E., TILLACK, P., GERASIN, S. (2001): Eigentumsverhältnisse, Rentabilität und Schulden landwirtschaftlicher Großbetriebe im Gebiet Wolgograd
- No. 33 KIELYTE, J. (2001): Strukturwandel im baltischen Lebensmittelhandel
- No. 34 Шульце, Э., Тиллак, П., Герасин, С. (2001): Отношения собственности, рентабельность и долги крупных сельскохозяйственных предприятий в Волгоградской области
- No. 35 FROHBERG, K., HARTMANN, M. (2002): Konsequenzen der Integration im Agrar- und Ernährungssektor zwischen Beitrittsländern und EU-15
- No. 36 PETRICK, M. (2001):

  Documentation of the Poland farm survey 2000
- No. 37 PETRICK, M., SPYCHALSKI, G., ŚWITŁYK, M., TYRAN, E. (2001):
  Poland's Agriculture: Serious Competitor or Europe's Poorhouse? Survey results on farm performance in selected Polish voivodships and a comparison with German farms
- No. 38 HOCKMANN, H., KASHTANOVA, E., KOWSCHIK, S. (2002): Lage und Entwicklungsprobleme der weißrussischen Fleischwirtschaft

- No. 39 SCHULZE, E., TILLACK, P., PATLASSOV, O. (2002): Einflussfaktoren auf Gewinn und Rentabilität landwirtschaftlicher Großbetriebe im Gebiet Omsk, Russland
- No. 40 ШУльце, Э., Тиллак, П., Патлассов, О. (2002):
   Факторы, влияющие на прибыль и рентабельность крупных сельскохозяйственных предприятий в Омской области в России
- No. 41 BAVOROVÁ, M. (2002): Entwicklung des tschechischen Zuckersektors seit 1989
- No. 42 FROHBERG, K., WEBER, G. (2002): Auswirkungen der EU-Osterweiterung im Agrarbereich
- No. 43 PETRICK, M. (2002):

  Farm investment, credit rationing, and public credit policy in Poland

   A microeconometric analysis –
- No. 44 KEDAITIENE, A., HOCKMANN, H. (2002):
  Milk and milk processing industry in Lithuania: An analysis of horizontal and vertical integration
- No. 45 PETRICK, M. (2003): Empirical measurement of credit rationing in agriculture: A methodological survey
- No. 46 PETRICK, M., LATRUFFE, L. (2003):

  Credit access and borrowing costs in Poland's agricultural credit market: A hedonic pricing approach
- No. 47 PETRICK, M., BALMANN, A., LISSITSA, A. (2003):
  Beiträge des Doktorandenworkshops zur Agrarentwicklung in Mittel- und Osteuropa
  2003
- No. 48 SCHULZE, E., TILLACK, P., MOSASHWILI, N. (2003): Zur wirtschaftlichen Situation georgischer Landwirtschaftsbetriebe
- No. 49 Лисситса, А., Бабичева, Т. (2003): Теоретические основы анализа продуктивности и эффективности сельскохозяйственных предприятий
- No. 50 Лисситса, А., Бабичева, Т. (2003): Анализ Оболочки Данных (DEA) – Современная методика определения эффективности производства
- No. 51 Лисситса, А., Оденинг, М., Бабичева, Т. (2003):
   10 лет экономических преобразований в сельском хозяйстве Украины Анализ эффективности и продуктивности предприятий
- No. 52 LISSITSA, A., STANGE, H. (2003): Russischer Agrarsektor im Aufschwung? Eine Analyse der technischen und Skalen-Effizienz der Agrarunternehmen

- No. 53 VALENTINOV, V. (2003):
  Social capital, transition in agriculture, and economic organisation: A theoretical perspective
- No. 54 BORKOWSKI, A. (2003):

  Machtverteilung im Ministerrat nach dem Vertrag von Nizza und den Konventsvorschlägen in einer erweiterten Europäischen Union
- No. 55 KISS, P., WEINGARTEN, P. (2003): Cost of compliance with the acquis communautaire in the Hungarian dairy sector
- No. 56 WEINGARTEN, P., FROHBERG, K., WINTER, E., SCHREIBER, C. (2003):

  Quantitative Analysis of the Impacts of Croatia's Agricultural Trade Policy on the Agri-food Sector
- No. 57 БОКУШЕВА, Р., ХАЙДЕЛЬБАХ, О. (2004): Актуальные аспекты страхования в сельском хозяйстве
- No. 58 DERLITZKI, R., SCHULZE, E. (2004): Georg Max Ludwig Derlitzki (1889-1958)
- No. 59 VŐNEKI, E. (2004): Zur Bewertung des Ungarischen SAPARD-Programms unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Investitionen im Milchsektor
- No. 60 Чимпоеш, Д., Шульце, Э. (2004): Основные экономические проблемы сельского хозяйства Молдовы
- No. 61 BAUM, S., WEINGARTEN, P. (2004): Interregionale Disparitäten und Entwicklung ländlicher Räume als regionalpolitische Herausforderung für die neuen EU-Mitgliedstaaten
- No. 62 PETRICK, M. (2004):
  Can econometric analysis make (agricultural) economics a hard science? Critical remarks and implications for economic methodology
- No. 63 SAUER, J. (2004):

  Rural Water Suppliers and Efficiency Empirical Evidence from East and West Germany
- No. 64 PETRICK, M., BALMANN, A. (2004):
  Beiträge des 2. Doktorandenworkshops zur Agrarentwicklung in Mittel- und Osteuropa 2004
- No. 65 BOJNEC, S., HARTMANN, M. (2004):
  Agricultural and Food Trade in Central and Eastern Europe: The Case of Slovenian Intra-Industry Trade
- No. 66 GLITSCH, K., EERITS, A. (2004):

  Der slowakische Markt für Milch und Milchprodukte Vom Beginn der Transformation bis zum EU-Beitritt

- No. 67 FISCHER, C. (2004):
  Assessing Kosovo's horticultural potential The market for fruit and vegetables on the balkans
- No. 68 PETRICK, M., SCHREIBER, C., WEINGARTEN, P. (2004): Competitiveness of milk and wine production and processing in Albania
- No. 69 Штанге, Γ., Лисситса, А. (2004): Аграрный сектор России на подъеме?! Анализ технической эффективности аграрных предприятий
- No. 70 SAUER, J. (2004): Die Ökonomie der (Ländlichen) Wasserversorgung
- No. 71 HAPPE, K., BALMANN, A., KELLERMANN, K. (2004):
  The Agricultural Policy Simulator (Agripolis) An agent-based model to study structural change in agriculture (Version 1.0)
- No. 72 BAUM, S., TRAPP, CH., WEINGARTEN, P. (2004): Typology of rural areas in the Central and Eastern European EU new Member States
- No. 73 Petrick, M. (2004):
  Governing structural change and externalities in agriculture: Toward a normative institutional economics of rural development
- No. 74 RODIONOVA, O., SCHULZE, E., UERKOV, E., KARPOVA, G. (2004): Zur Besteuerung von Agrarholdings in Russland
- No. 75 HEIDELBACH, O., BOKUSHEVA, R., KUSSAYINOV, T. (2004): Which type of crop insurance for Kazakhstan? Empirical results
- No. 76 BOKUSHEVA, R. (2004):

  Crop insurance in transition: A qualitative and quantitative assessment of insurance products
- No. 77 RAMANOVICH, M., LAJTOS, I. (2004):
  Milchproduktion und -verarbeitung in Weißrussland: Eine Analyse der Wettbewerbsfähigkeit
- No. 78 Luka, O., Levkovych, I. (2004): Intra-industry trade in agricultural and food products: The case of Ukraine
- No. 79 EINAX, CH., LISSITSA, A., PARKHOMENKO, S. (2005): Getreideproduktion in der Ukraine – Eine komparative Analyse von Produktionskosten
- No. 80 ИВАХНЕНКО, О., ЛИССИТСА, А. (2005): Информационно-консультационная служба в аграрно-промышленном комплексе России на примере Омской области

- No. 81 ROTHE, A., LISSITSA, A. (2005):

  Der ostdeutsche Agrarsektor im Transformationsprozess Ausgangssituation, Entwicklung und Problembereich
- No. 82 РОТЭ, А. ЛИССИТСА, А. (2005): Аграрный сектор Восточной Германии в переходном периоде— Исходная ситуация, развитие и основные проблемы
- No. 83 CURTISS, J., PETRICK, M., BALMANN, A. (2005):
  Beiträge des 3. Doktorandenworkshops zur Agrarentwicklung in Mittel- und Osteuropa 2005
- No. 84 SVETLOV, N., HOCKMANN, H. (2005):

  Technical and economic efficiency of Russian corporate farms: The case of the Moscow region
- No. 85 Мельничук, В., Пархоменко, С., Лисситса, А. (2005): Процесс формирования рынка сельскохозяйственных земель в Украине
- No. 86 MELNYCHUK, V., PARKHOMENKO, S., LISSITSA, A. (2005): Creation of agricultural land market in Ukraine: Current state of development
- No. 87 ROTHE, A., LISSITSA, A. (2005):

  Zur Wettbewerbsfähigkeit der ostdeutschen Landwirtschaft Eine Effizienzanalyse landwirtschaftlicher Unternehmen Sachsen-Anhalts und der Tschechischen Republik
- No. 88 Brosig, S., Yahshilikov, Y. (2005): Interregional integration of wheat markets in Kazakhstan
- No. 89 GRAMZOW, A. (2005):

  Experience with Endogenous Rural Development Initiatives and the Prospects for Leader+ in the Region "Dolina Strugu", Poland

Die Discussion Papers sind erhältlich beim Institut für Agrarentwicklung in Mittel- und Osteuropa (IAMO) oder im Internet unter http://www.iamo.de.

The Discussion Papers can be ordered from the Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe (IAMO). Use our download facility at http://www.iamo.de.